
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

AGENDA  

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

 
Date: Tuesday, 24 September 2013 
  
Time: 2:30 pm 
  
Venue: Collingwood Room/Council Chamber   - Civic Offices 

 
 
Members:  
Councillor N J Walker (Chairman) 

 
Councillor A Mandry (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Councillors B Bayford 

P J Davies 

K D Evans 

M J Ford, JP 

R H Price, JP 

D C S Swanbrow 

Mrs K K Trott 

 
Deputies: T  M Cartwright 

J S Forrest 

Mrs C L A Hockley 

P W Whittle, JP 

Public Document Pack



- 2 - 

 

 

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Chairman's Announcements  

3. Declarations of  Interest  

 To receive any declarations of interest from members in accordance with Standing 
Orders and the Council’s Code of Conduct.  
 

4. Deputations  

 To receive any deputations of which notice has been lodged.  
 

5. Planning Applications (Pages 1 - 2) 

 To consider a report by the Director of Planning and Environment on development 
control matters.  
 

ZONE 1 - WESTERN WARDS 
 

Park Gate, Titchfield, Sarisbury, Locks Heath, Warsash and Titchfield Common 

(1) P/13/0575/FP - Locks Heath Free Church 255 Hunts Pond Road Titchfield 
Common (Pages 5 - 14) 

ZONE 3 - EASTERN WARDS 
 

Portchester West, Hill Head, Stubbington and Portchester East 

(2) P/13/0528/FP - Solar Farm South of Tanners Lane/West of Newgate Lane 
Fareham (Pages 17 - 42) 

P GRIMWOOD 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
Civic Offices 
www.fareham.gov.uk  
16 September 2013 

 
 
 

For further information please contact: 
Democratic Services, Civic Offices, Fareham, PO16 7AZ 

Tel:01329 236100 
democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk 



pc-130924-r04-lsm

Date:

Report of:

Subject:

24 September 2013

Director of Planning and Environment

PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS

SUMMARY

RECOMMENDATION

This report recommends action on various planning applications and miscellaneous items

The recommendations are detailed individually at the end of the report on each
planning application.

Report to 

Planning Committee

(1)  Items relating to development in the Western Wards;  Sarisbury, Warsash, Park Gate, Titchfield,
Titchfield Common and Locks Heath will be heard from 2.30pm

(2)  Items relating to development in Stubbington, Hill Head, Portchester East and Portchester West
will not be heard before 3.30 pm

AGENDA

Agenda Item 5

Page 1



Page 2

This page is intentionally left blank



pc-130924-r04-lsm

Reference Item No

P/13/0575/FP LOCKS HEATH FREE CHURCH 255 HUNTS POND ROAD
TITCHFIELD COMMON FAREHAM PO14 4PG
ALTERATIONS AND EXTENSIONS TO EXISTING CHURCH TO
PROVIDE NEW WORSHIP AREA, ACTIVITY HALL WITH
ADDITIONAL CAR PARKING

1
PERMISSIONTITCHFIELD

COMMON

Park Gate

Titchfield

Sarisbury

Locks Heath

Warsash

Titchfield Common

ZONE 1 - WESTERN WARDS

Agenda Annex

Page 3



pc-130924-r04-lsm Page 4



ALTERATIONS AND EXTENSIONS TO EXISTING CHURCH TO PROVIDE NEW
WORSHIP AREA, ACTIVITY HALL WITH ADDITIONAL CAR PARKING

LOCKS HEATH FREE CHURCH 255 HUNTS POND ROAD TITCHFIELD COMMON
FAREHAM PO14 4PG

Report By

Amendments

Site Description

Description of Proposal

Kim Hayler (2367)

As amended by Layout Plan received 21 August 2013

Locks Heath Free Church is located on the northeast side of Hunts Pond Road south of the
junction with Prelate Way. The Church was permitted in 1998 and comprises a single
building set back on its site with the main area of car parking between the building and the
Hunts Pond Road frontage.

To the northwest a Greenway links Hunts Pond Road with Ascot Close to the rear. A belt of
mature oak trees run along the rear (northeast) boundary of the site. The trees to the rear of
the existing church are protected by Fareham Tree Preservation Order No.154 and are
located just outside of the site boundary. 

The Hunts Pond Road frontage is quite open to view. When approached from the south the
existing Church building is set against the backdrop of trees and of adjacent residential
dwellings. The properties in Ascot Close to the rear are sited in excess of 50 metres from
the site boundary and the nearest property in Hunts Pond Road is sited 12 metres from the
site boundary.

The development proposals seek the extension of the Church site to the southeast to
enable the construction of a multipurpose building incorporating a 'sanctuary' (described as
an 'auditorium' in the previous application), activity hall, small meeting rooms, coffee shop
and administrative area. The new building would be linked to the existing building.
Additional car parking is proposed on the southeast side of the site and would be set back
from the Hunts Pond Road frontage.

The applicants state that the application is principally for a D1 use (for, or in connection
with, public worship or religious instruction) with ancillary functions. 

The whole site would amount to 0.8 hectares in area with the additional land comprising
approximately 0.56 hectares of that. The floor area of the existing building measures 692
metres square and the floor area of the proposed new building would measure 1660 square
metres. The new building would measure 9.5 metres high and would be set back from the
Hunts Pond Road frontage roughly in line with the existing Church building.

The existing car parking area to the front of the Church would be extended across the front

P/13/0575/FP TITCHFIELD COMMON

LOCKS HEATH FREE CHURCH AGENT: ROWAN & EDWARDS
LTD

Agenda Item 5(1)

Page 5



Policies

Relevant Planning History

Representations

of the new building and sweep around to an extended area to the southeast of the new
building. The total proposed on site car parking provision would be 152 spaces. The
overspill area proposed in the previous, refused, application has been removed from the
proposal.

The following policies apply to this application:

The following planning history is relevant:

Two hundred and forty one representations received in support of the proposal:

 · Attention is drawn to the planned further development in the western wards of Fareham
which will justify the expansion
 · Meets planning policies 
 · Valuable facility for the community
 · Important for young people

Forty representations received in objection to the proposal raising the following concerns:

 · Scale and capacity are too great and little altered from previous application
 · Antisocial activities on Friday nights
 · Still insufficient car parking for large events
 · Traffic hazard of site egress close to pinch point on Hunts Pond Road
 · Will have to be used commercially in order to cover the build costs
 · General traffic along Hunts Pond Road is a problem with new developments accessed
from it
 · Inappropriate development for what is a countryside location
 · Development not needed by the local community as a whole
 · Harmful to immediate local residents by reason of noise and disturbance
 · This is mainly a residential area
 · Loss of Green space

Approved Fareham Borough Core Strategy

Fareham Borough Local Plan Review

CS5 - Transport Strategy and Infrastructure

CS9 - Development in Western Wards and Whiteley

CS14 - Development Outside Settlements

CS15 - Sustainable Development and Climate Change

CS17 - High Quality Design

DG4 - Site Characteristics

P/12/0120/FP ALTERATION TO EXISTING BUILDING AND PROVISION OF NEW

AUDITORIUM, ACTIVITY HALL AND CAFE WITH ASSOCIATED CAR

PARKING AND CHANGE OF USE OF LAND OPPOSITE NETLEY

ROAD FOR USE AS OVERSPILL CAR PARK

REFUSE 23/07/2012

Page 6



Consultations

 · Current building is not always in use - could the uses not be spread over time as opposed
to adding more space for very limited functions?
 · Changes to the roof design and small parking area are insufficient to reduce the traffic
impact of the development
 · High level of noise and disturbance from existing uses
 · The   sanctuaries are still   auditoriums   by a different name
 · The transport assessment suggests that the largest events would be 300 people so why is
it necessary to have a higher capacity building?
 · Not a high quality design as required by Policy CS17 of the Core Strategy
 · The majority of users travel from outside of the immediate area
 · Sports facilities are not needed as this need is adequately covered elsewhere.

One petition received with 224 signatures objecting to the proposal on the following
grounds:

- The proposal is not in keeping with the area and fails to take into account the possible
destruction on the environment and the reduction in quality of life for the neighbourhood in
general;
- Inadequate parking on the site for the development would create havoc in the area around
the church;
- The proposal will open the gate to allow green land to be developed at any cost.

Director of Planning and Environment (Highways)  - This is a proposal to approximately
double the capacity of the existing church premises with more than a threefold increase in
on-site car parking, improvements to the site access arrangements and the provision of a
Travel Plan to seek to maximise sustainable travel to and from the site.

It is considered the overall proposals for parking, access, traffic impact and site
management are now acceptable and thus, subject to the commitment to the contents of an
agreed Travel Plan and the installation of pedestrian barriers, no highway objection is raised
to the application.

Director of Planning and Environment (Arboriculture)  - No objection subject to conditions

Director of Planning and Environment (Ecology)  - I recently commented on a previous
scheme at this site, and the updated ecological information has been provided to reflect the
changes to the proposals in this new scheme, and the time lapse between the previous
survey and this submission. My comments remain the same as previously.

I have no particular concerns about the proposals. I would, however, suggest that the
recommendations of the ecological report are secured by condition. 

I would suggest that if external lighting is to form part of the development, an appropriate
scheme is secured by condition.

Finally, if a landscape planting plan is to be secured by condition, I would again suggest that
the condition wording incorporates the need for the planting to be native, locally appropriate,
and of benefit to wildlife.

Environment Agency - No objection.

Page 7



Southern Water - No objection subject to informatives.

Hampshire Constabulary (Crime Prevention Design Advisor) - The proposal shows a
pedestrian access from the footpath (running along the northern boundary) into the
grounds. This provides an opportunity for a short cut through the car park, which increases
the vulnerability of the car park to crime. Therefore, in the first instance I would recommend
that this access is removed and the boundary treatment continued along the entire length of
the footpath. However, if this is not desirable I would recommend the installation of gates
across this access so that access to the church grounds can be controlled if necessary. The
gates should be: of robust construction, at least six feet high, constructed in such a fashion
that they do not aid climbing over the gate and fitted with a key operated lock.

The proposal shows several cycle stores and a cycle parking area. The two cycle stores are
not well over looked (one can easily be accessed from the footpath) therefore, I recommend
the provision of lockable cycle stores. The cycle parking area is very close to the footpath to
provide some protection for the cycles I recommend the installation of cycle anchor points.
Any planting should be such that it does not restrict the visibility of the cycle stores.

The proposed building has a number of doors located on the rear elevations. These doors
have very little natural surveillance which increases their vulnerability to crime; as a result
they should be of a design of increased surveillance. 

Director of Regulatory and Democratic Services (Contamination) - The application did not
include any information relating to land contamination. A previous application included a site
investigation report.  This along with conversations with the consultant who wrote the report
identified an issue with ground gases and a ground gas assessment was recommended by
the consultants. This will need to be required as a condition and it will be necessary to
remove the permitted development rights so any further additions can be required to include
gas protection if necessary or to protect any installed remedial measures.

Director of Regulatory and Democratic Services (Environmental Health) - In December 2012
Environmental Health received a complaint regarding noise from youths hanging around by
the door of the church.  A complaint about noise from children attending the youth club at
the church was received in May 2012, and two earlier complaints about the same were
received in February and October 2010.  Other than the complaints being made, no further
action was taken as no further contact was forthcoming from the complainants.

At the time of writing this consultation response I note that over 250 representations had
been made by members of the public.  However, only 36 are from local residents (living
within 150m or so of the church) and of those 36, 17 have made objections on noise
grounds.

The applicant has commissioned a noise impact assessment.  I agree with the surveys
undertaken by Vanguardia and the recommendation to incorporate sound insulation within
the architectural design of the building based on providing sufficient attenuation for a worst
case internal sound pressure level of 95 dB(A).

It is understood that the three sets of rear doors to the auditorium and the activity hall are to
be self closing and alarmed for emergency use only, and to be steel acoustic fire doors
complete with perimeter and threshold seals.  This should be made a condition of any
planning approval in order to ensure minimal noise break-out from this source.

Page 8



Planning Considerations - Key Issues

It is understood that the earlier proposed cafe is now to be a coffee shop.  As a result, the
potential for odour (and noise) complaints will be reduced.  Should the use of the coffee
shop change in the future it may be necessary for odour (and noise) control equipment to
be installed.

Introduction

Planning permission was refused (P/12/0120/FP refers) on 23 July 2012 for the alteration to
the existing building and provision of a new auditorium, activity hall and cafe with associated
car parking and change of use of land opposite Netley Road for use as overspill car parking.

The application was refused at the Planning Committee meeting on 18 July 2012 for the
following reason: 

The proposed development is contrary to Policies CS5, CS14 and CS17 of the adopted
Fareham Borough Core Strategy in that:

On the basis of the information submitted, the scale of the proposed development,
particularly the incorporation of a 500 seat auditorium, and its use by separate commercial
organisations goes beyond a facility that is necessary to serve the local community.

Whilst the provision of additional car parking to the south is recognised, the proposed car
park is too distant from the proposed facilities and other opportunities exist to park closer to
the site on the public highway. The scale of the proposed development, in conjunction  with
the existing building, would therefore lead to parking on nearby roads to the detriment of
highway safety and the amenities of local residents. Furthermore on the basis of the
submitted information, the local planning authority are concerned as to how the additional
car parking area could be made available and controlled when there is pressure to use it by
the Church, users of the sports pitches and those attending the allotments. This will further
exacerbate problems with vehicles parking on the highway.

The current application has been submitted in order to seek to overcome the previous
reasons for refusal.  The main changes can be summarised as follows:

- the applicant confirms that the community uses and church based uses which take place
within the church premises today will not alter and will be carried over to the new and
extended premises;
- the applicant states that no commercial organisations will be hiring the worship area for
non-church activites;
- additional car parking will be provided immediately alongside the site rather than at a
distance from it.

Principle of Development

Within the Fareham Borough Local Plan Review the application site is identified as on land,
outside of the built up area, but suitable for community, education and recreation uses. The
proposed extension to the Church is considered to fall within the definition of a 'community'
use so that it is considered to comply with saved policy.

Policy CS9, referring to development within the Western Wards and Whiteley identifies the
provision of some 1480 further new dwellings up to 2026; it also encourages the provision

Page 9



of community facilities to serve this projected local growth. This application meets this policy
objective in that it provides flexible community facilities for an increasing local population.

The previous planning application was refused in part because the Members of the
Planning Committee considered that the proposal for a 500 seat auditorium and its use
would go beyond that necessary to serve the local community.  The applicant had also
highlighted the fact that the building could be let out for larger functions including
conferences and concerts unrelated either to the church or the local community.

Whilst the floor area of the buildings proposed are essentially the same as the previous
scheme, the submission clarifies that the proposed use is for Class D1 of the Use Classes
Order. More specifically the uses undertaken within the new buildings will be the same as
those current uses in the existing church building. These include:

Children craft activities,
Youth work programme 
Childrens programme 
Sporting activities
Sports and games for children,
Parents and toddlers,
Parenting courses,
Marriage courses
Child protection courses
Counselling and peer group
After schools club
Summer Holiday children's club 
'Alpha courses',
Reading schemes,
Children's holiday club,
Youth clubs,
Seniors club,
Luncheon club,
Pre-school,
Debt counselling,
Housing association meetings with local residents.

It is considered that any condition restricting the use of the building should also, for clarity,
be explicit that the use shall not include letting of space to other hirers for non church/
community uses. A further condition would be appropriate to restrict the use of the 'coffee
shop' such that it is not used independently as a day to day facility for the general public.

The applicants advise that the church is already used for larger events with up to 300
attendees, for example at the Children's Christmas service,  and these will continue within
the more spacious premises.

Scale and Design of the Development: 

Although the scale of the development was referred to in the previous refusal in relation to
the  auditorium and its possible use by commercial organisations there was no direct
reference to design.  Notwithstanding, the applicants have amended the building, the most
notable change being the roof form of the auditorium which has been hipped to the
northwest and south east. 

Page 10



Some local objectors are of the view that the alterations to the design are insufficient to
warrant any change of position, however, as stated there was no previous objection to the
design of the extended building.

The building is not set directly against residential properties; to the north residential
properties would be separated from the new building and car parking by the existing church
building. To the east the building would be screened by mature trees and would measure in
excess of 60 metres from the nearest residential properties in Ascot Close. To the west the
building would be sited some 50 metres from residential properties on the opposite side of
Hunts Pond Road, behind the proposed car parking areas. 

The building is functional and is designed to achieve specific purposes including an
auditorium;  the building has been designed to minimise impact upon local residents by
reducing openings and where necessary keeping openings within elevations set away from
the nearest residents. 

Hampshire Constabulary (Crime Prevention Design Advisor)recommends gating the
pedestrian access from the footpath running along the northern boundary of the site, along
with making provision for secure cycle parking.  At the moment the pedestrian access
already exists between the site and the footpath and the proposal will not change the
situation.  The provision of secure cycle parking can be secured through the imposition of a
planning condition.

Officers are satisfied that the design is appropriate and of high quality having regard for the
functional constraints involved.

As with the previous application, the building has been designed to achieve good levels of
energy efficiency which will exceed regulations through matters such as:

- Air source heat punps to improve energy use
- Building information board to be a learning resource for building users
- Drinking water dispensers (mains supplied) and cooled to improve the health of users
- A pulsed output from the main incoming water meter, connected to the Building
Management System, to detect any leaks and avoid water wastage
- A sanitary area water suppy shut off valve activated by proximity detection to reduce water
wastage
- Lighting controlled by proximity detection and time control to improve energy usage

Nonetheless, due to the charitable status of the applicants, the added costs of materials
and design features and the cost of assessment and monitoring the project cannot
realistically meet the aims of Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy to achieve 'excellent' status
under BREEAM (Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method) for
non-residential developments from 2012.  Under the circumstances Officers are of the view
that with the variability of the use of the building together with the costs involved that must
be borne, this is a case where the full achievement of the BREEAM status would be an
unreasonable burden.

Parking/highway matters

The existing car park has a capacity of 48 cars. The current application proposes

Page 11



Conclusion

reconfiguring the existing car park and providing additional car parking at the site to
accommodate a total of 152 cars. 

Local residents point out that significant problems continue to arise, particularly on
Sundays, when there is insufficient car parking available on the site, or in combination with
parking at the local St.John's School (25 spaces by arrangement with Hampshire County
Council). Attendees of the Church overspill into the local roads, causing problems for local
residents and safety hazards on the more busy roads, particularly Hunts Pond Road.
Objectors note that the proposal now includes expanded car parking on the site of the
Church but consider that the total 152 spaces is insufficient given the capacity of the
building.

The Director of Planning and Environment (Highways) is satisfied that the proposed car
parking in terms of its location and numbers is acceptable subject to the provision of the
Travel Plan particularly to address events when large numbers of people are present. 

Concern is also raised about the position of the proposed egress from the site and the
impact of this and the overall increased traffic level upon Hunts Pond Road.  The
implications of the proposals upon the highway network have been considered by the
Director of Planning and Environment (Highways) who advises that the development would
not cause material harm to highway safety. 

Noise and Disturbance:

A number of nearby residents have raised the issue of noise and disturbance from evening
and night time uses, particularly youth events, where behaviour is rowdy when  events such
as the youth club turn out.

Members will note from the comments of the Director of Regulatory and Democratic
Services (Environmental Health) that complaints have been received but that these have
been infrequent and have not been followed up by the complainants.  The issue was not
considered to be sufficient to justify a reason for refusal on the last application. 

The principal elements of the proposals have not changed in that the design is such as to
take the main entrance to the complex further south away from the closest dwellings. Noise
issues are often encountered outside buildings where such uses are undertaken; whether or
not the application is permitted the current uses will continue.  The new building will provide
more internal space for activites to occur but the design and attenuation measures will
prevent disturbance from uses within the building.

Officers do not believe the increased size of the building will in itself lead to increased
incidents of noise disturbance outside the building during unsociable hours.

The site for the proposed extension and car parking to the church is located outside of the
defined urban area but within an area identified as suitable for community uses.

In refusing the previous application, Members were concerned that the scale of the
proposed building was likely to lead to use by outside commercial organisations, suggesting
that the building was beyond that necessary to serve the local community. Members were
also concerned about the proposed overspill car park being too distant from the site, which
they considered would lead to additional parking on the highway.

Page 12



PERMISSION

Background Papers

The application seeks to address the previous reasons for refusal by confirming that the
building will be used only for church and community related uses and additional car parking
is now located immediately alongside the buildings.

Officers believe that the proposed development addresses the concerns raised previously
by Members and for these reasons it is recommended that the application be permitted
subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions.

Use as a place of worship/church hall together with non-commercial community uses and
for no other use within Class D1; Details of Materials; Details of drainage; Submission of
landscape details; Implementation and maintenance of agreed landscape scheme; Details
of hard surfacing area including car park; laying out and retention of car parking; Details of
all external lighting to be agreed and implemented before use commences;  Travel  Plan to
be agreed and implemented; Tree protection measures in accordance with submitted and
approved method statement; No event or other use, excluding specifically church related,
within the building shall finish later than 11pm; Noise attenuation measures as agreed
beforehand to be implemented before use commences; gas protection measures; noise
conditions; compliance with terms of Phase I Habitat Survey; Details of areas for site
offices, construction vehicles, and storage of materials during construction; Means of
preventing mud from leaving the site during construction; details of vehicular signage to be
agreed, control rear doors, coffee shop to be used ancillary to church use only; details of
safety barriers to be approved; secure cycle provision

P/12/0120/FP

Page 13



Page 14



pc-130924-r04-lsm

Reference Item No

P/13/0528/FP LAND AT NEWLANDS FARM SOUTH OF TANNERS LANE/ WEST
OF NEWGATE LANE FAREHAM HAMPSHIRE PO14 1AU
PHOTOVOLTAIC SOLAR FARM (INCORPORATING SOLAR
PANEL ARRAYS & ASSOCIATED TRANSFORMERS &
INVERTERS) WITH ASSOCIATED SECURITY FENCING,
LANDSCAPING AND GRID CONNECTION (COMPRISING ONE
TRANSFORMER BUILDING AND BURIED CABLE)

2
PERMISSIONSTUBBINGTON

Portchester West

Hill Head

Stubbington

Portchester East

ZONE 3 - EASTERN WARDS

Agenda Annex

Page 15



pc-130924-r04-lsm Page 16



PHOTOVOLTAIC SOLAR FARM (INCORPORATING SOLAR PANEL ARRAYS &
ASSOCIATED TRANSFORMERS & INVERTERS) WITH ASSOCIATED SECURITY
FENCING, LANDSCAPING AND GRID CONNECTION (COMPRISING ONE
TRANSFORMER BUILDING AND BURIED CABLE)

LAND AT NEWLANDS FARM SOUTH OF TANNERS LANE/ WEST OF NEWGATE LANE
FAREHAM HAMPSHIRE PO14 1AU

Report By

Site Description

Description of Proposal

Kim Hayler - Ext 2367

The application site comprises 27.04ha (66 acres) of arable farmland situated south of
Tanners Lane and west of Newgate Lane, Fareham. Footpath number 68 runs along the
route of Tanners Lane.

The site lies within the countryside and the Fareham/Stubbington Strategic Gap;

HMS Collingwood lies to the north and north east of the application site; the Peel Common
Waste Water Treatment Works to the south; Newgate Lane to the east.  To the west is a
further area of arable farmland before reaching residential properties on Stroud Green Lane
and Burnt House Lane.  An electricity substation is situated on the south side of HMS
Collingwood.

An easement would be retained along the electricity line which crosses the land, together
with an easement along the line of a public sewer leading to the Wastewater Treatment
works.

A statutory public footpath 74 runs through and adjacent to part of the southern boundary of
the site with footpath 71b running adjacent to the east side of the Wastewater Treatment
Works.   There is also an informal footpath route down the western boundary of the site.

The nearest properties in Stroud Green Lane and Burnt House Lane would be sited
between 650m and 700m from the western  boundary of the application site.  On the
eastern, (Newgate Lane side) the nearest residential property would be sited approximately
40 metres from the site.

The land is predominantly flat with vegetation being confined to the boundaries with existing
development.  In places, at present, the boundary of the development site itself remains
undefined as it runs across the otherwise arable land.

The development of the site involves the construction of ground based arrays of
photovoltaic panels for a period of 25 years.  Each array would be 12.3m long by 3.3m wide
and would be tilted, in relation to the ground at an angle of 15 degrees giving a maximum
height of 1.7m.  There would be 3649 arrays containing 87,576 modules in a 12 x 2
arrangement. The space between each array, that is the distance from the back of one
array to the front of the next, will be 1.5 metres. The zones containing the arrays would be

P/13/0528/FP STUBBINGTON

SUNSAVE 10 (FAREHAM) LTD AGENT: PARKER DANN LIMITED

Agenda Item 5(2)

Page 17



Policies

Relevant Planning History

enclosed by 2.15m high security fencing of wire mesh topped by a single strand of barbed
wire to prevent trespass. Native hedgerow would be planted outside of the security fencing.

Across the site 25 inverter and transformer cabinets would be erected.  These would be
sited in groups of two inverters and one transformer. The inverter cabinets would measure
3.18m (10'5") wide x 1.29m (4'2") long x 2.86m (9'4") high with the transformers being 3.2m
(10'5") wide x 2.5m (8'2") long x 2.36 (7'8") high.

At the point of the electricity substation two structures are proposed to facilitate the
connection to the national grid. These would measure (client building) 5.7m (18'8") wide x
2.7m (8'10") long x 2.6m (8'8") high and (Inverter/Transformer) 2.56m (8'4") wide x 6.96m
(22'8") long x 3.45m (11'3") high.

Cables would be laid in trenches 400mm wide by 700mm deep.

The development would generate approximately 16.875MWp being sufficient to provide the
annual electricity requirements of 5,200 households.

The whole site will be sown down to a grass and wildflower mix and grazed by appropriate
farm animals to suit the conditions of the site.

Footpath 74 would be upgraded to a 6 metre wide avenue.  Native hedgerows would be
planted either side of the path screening the arrays and security fencing. Buffer strips would
be maintained to the development along newgate Lane and around the boundaries of the
Wastewater Treatment plant.

The following policies apply to this application:

The following planning history is relevant:

Approved Fareham Borough Core Strategy

Fareham Borough Local Plan Review

CS4 - Green Infrastructure, Biodiversity and Geological Conservation

CS5 - Transport Strategy and Infrastructure

CS6 - The Development Strategy

CS12 - Daedalus Airfield Strategic Development Allocation

CS14 - Development Outside Settlements

CS15 - Sustainable Development and Climate Change

CS16 - Natural Resources and Renewable Energy

CS17 - High Quality Design

CS22 - Development in Strategic Gaps

C18 - Protected Species

DG4 - Site Characteristics

P/12/0905/FP PHOTOVOLTAIC SOLAR FARM (INCORPORATING SOLAR PANEL

Page 18



Representations

Thirty three objections were received raising the following concerns:

- Loss of view over countryside
- Loss of Green space
- General impact on wildlife
- Premature to the resolution of the Stubbington bypass
- Loss of part of Strategic Gap
- Precedent for subsequent extension over remaining land
- Loss of value to walkers/cyclists/horseriders
- Industrialisation of site
- Precedent for other uses of the site in the future
- Company is not UK owned
- No local employment
- Loss of security for walkers
- Unsuitable land for sheep grazing
- Corridors open to fly-tipping
- Lack of sequential testing
- Adverse impact on Goose foraging and overwintering areas
- Inefficiency of solar panels and lack of long term sustainability
- Toxic fumes from possible fires
- Health concerns
- Glare from panels
- Noise from transformers and inverters
- Poor Drainage
- Insufficient access for emergency
- Safety risks
- Devaluation of property
- Not needed as other sources of energy are available
- No evidence of continued global warming
- Effect on emergency landing areas for aircraft from Daedalus
- Welfare of the sheep?
- Hedgerows will take years to grow

Sixteen letters of support were received raising the following points:

- Applicants have put considerable effort into addressing concerns
- Energy is needed
- Stubbington bypass is not sustainable
- will add to biodiversity which is a local benefit
- Sad to see reduction in area
- Need to reduce reliance on fossil fuels
- Backup of sustainable energy allows reduction in use of power stations and emissions
- Solar panels are not eyesores
- We should be looking after our future generations

ARRAYS AND ASSOCIATED TRANSFORMERS & INVERTERS) WITH

ASSOCIATED SECURITY FENCING, LANDSCAPING, COMMUNITY

GREEN SPACE AND GRID CONNECTION (COMPRISING TWO

TRANSFORMER BUILDINGS)

WITHDRAWN 13/02/2013

Page 19



Consultations

- Less visually harmful than the 'new town'

Comments received from The Fareham Society:

- More welcome due to the reduction in the area of the site
- Promise of some community funding is welcome
- Multi user path will require management
- Local residents still claim more winter roosting of birds than is accepted in application
- Otherwise premature to resolving the issue of the Stubbington bypass

Director of Planning and Environment (Landscape) -

The previous application was for a far more extensive scheme which would have resulted in
significant adverse visual impacts.

The recently submitted amended layout plan demonstrates that the length of footpaths
adversely affected will be greatly reduced. The amended scheme is far less extensive than
the earlier scheme and any adverse landscape and visual impact will be greatly reduced.

Hampshire County Council - Countryside Services (Rights of Way) - 

Countryside Services are happy with the access and traffic management proposals for the
public footpaths and are also satisfied with the proposals for the footpaths which run
through the solar arrays.

Director of Planning and Environment (Highways) - 

This is a substantial proposal to erect an array of photovoltaic (PV) panels and related
equipment over a wide area of Newlands Farm for a period of 25 years.  Existing rights of
way and permitted footpath routes are to be protected.  A construction compound is
proposed to be laid out in a designated area in the north eastern corner of the site adjacent
to Tanners Lane.

The area is accessed from Tanners Lane, a private road with public footpath status, from
Newgate Lane to the east, and from a private road, also designated as a public footpath,
from Peak Lane to the west.

By its nature, the PV array, when installed, would generate no material traffic except
occasional maintenance vehicles.  This is in contrast to the construction, and ultimate
decommissioning phases in which the applicants have predicted the generation of between
12 and 75 large haulage and delivery vehicles plus ancillary vehicles per week over a 12
week construction phase.  This would equate to around 503 lorries in total and a peak
average of some 1.8 lorries per hour.  The applicants advise that specialist operatives from
Germany will be used to install the array panels and equipment.  They will be
accommodated locally and bussed to the site daily.  As such there is unlikely to be any
material additional traffic movements beyond the above large construction vehicles, carrying
off surplus materials and bringing in the bulk equipment, also from Germany.

It is understood that the applicants have sufficient control over Tanners Lane and the
private road to Peak Lane to be able to use these for access.  It is also evident that Tanners
Lane and the link to Peak Lane are not of sufficient width, at only 3-4m, to accommodate

Page 20



the free movement of the predicted vehicles.  Consequently, the construction site should be
accessed using a one-way westbound traffic system between Newgate Lane and Peak
Lane, with appropriate signing and traffic managementto secure this.  A speed limit of
10mph would be applied on all site roads.  It is accepted that cyclists and
pedestrians/joggers will continue to freely use the access route for two way movement with
suitable warning signs erected along the route.

In addition to permanent measures to accommodate pedestrians on the footpath through
the array areas, verge stabilisation and repairs will be carried out on the access route to
accommodate pedestrians and fluorescent bunting will be installed throughout to distinguish
step-off areas.  To provide safe visibility, the applicants will also trim back sections of
hedgerow along the access route.  At the egress to Peak Lane, temporary barriers will be
installed to maximise the safety of cyclists and pedestrians using Peak Lane.

A Construction Traffic Management Plan has been agreed for the current proposals.

Subject to securing satisfactory details of all the above matters, no local highway objection
to the application is anticipated.

Gosport Borough Council - 

This site was the subject of a previous application, P/12/0905/FP, withdrawn in February
2013. The current revised application proposes a solar park using the same type and size of
solar panel, but lying only to the north of the Peel Wastewater Treatment Works and to the
south of HMS Collingwood, thus covering approximately half the original area.

In our letter to you dated 13th December 2012 we noted the inclusion of plans for a
Stubbington Bypass in the Strategic Access to Gosport Study and the Transport for South
Hampshire Delivery Plan, post 2012. We objected to the original proposal for the solar farm
on the grounds that it would prevent the future delivery of the bypass on any of the potential
routes identified in the Stubbington Bypass Route Evaluation Study.

We note the current proposal locates the solar farm over the eastern part of the blue route.
You will be aware that funding in the sum of £8.5 million has been secured by the County
Council for extensive improvements throughout Newgate Lane to enhance access to
Gosport and the Solent Enterprise Zone, and the design has been in progress for some
time with a view to commencement of works on the northern part of Newgate Lane in 2014.

Since we raised our objection in December, interest in the Stubbington Bypass as a further
means of addressing existing traffic problems in the Stubbington area and providing high
quality access to the Solent Enterprise has increased substantially. Support for the scheme
has recently been declared by the leaders of Gosport and Fareham Councils. The local
MP,Caroline Dineage, is also promoting the scheme with the Transport Minister Norman
Baker and the Transport Secretary Patrick McLoughlin with the aim of securing government
funding and bringing delivery forward in the transport programme.

Further, the Hampshire County Council Executive Member for Economy, Transport and
Environment decided on 11th June that the scope of the proposed consultations in respect
of the Newgate Lane improvements should be widened to seek the views of residents and
other stakeholders on possible routes for the Stubbington bypass and related
improvements. (See attached Executive Decision Record, Report and Route Plan). These
consultations are programmed from 8th July.

Page 21



The Borough Council acknowledges that the revised proposals for the solar farm do not
prevent the delivery of the bypass. However, it is a very costly scheme and it important that
its viability should not be prejudiced at this time by removal of one of the route options and
preventing full consideration of all available options. In the light of the increasing support
and current activity towards earlier delivery of the bypass, Gosport Borough Council
considers that a favourable decision on the proposed solar farm is premature until a
decision is made upon the best route.

With reference to our letter of 13th December, the Council would reiterate that the
Enterprise Zone at Daedalus is a key delivery area for the Solent LEP and the Government
wish to ensure that the EZ is effective in generating jobs and boosting the wider local
economy in the Solent area. Providing the necessary infrastructure to support the site in the
most cost effective way; mitigate impacts upon Stubbington Village and improve access to
Gosport should therefore take priority over the location of the solar farm.

Hampshire County Council (Economy, Transport and Environment Department - Highways
Development Planning) - 

The highway development planning comments are being provided by your agency engineer
in line with the Highway Development Control Agency Agreement.  However, I would like to
take the opportunity to to provide some further comments relating to the County Council's
current public consultation on Western Access to Gosport improvements and specifically
the route options for a Stubbington bypass.

Three corridor options have been identified for a possible Stubbington bypass route, one of
which would pass through the application site.  The delivery of the Stubbington bypass has
been a long standing aspiration for the County Council and a substantial amount of previous
work has been undertaken and is in the process of being updated.

The County Council is committed to delivering improvements on the Newgate Lane corridor
in order to meet the short to medium term access needs for the peninsula and in particular
the Solent Enterprise Zone.  Due to constraints on the existing traffic corridors, a longer
term solution to the peninsula's access problems has always considered the need to
provide new highway capacity in the form of a Stubbington bypass.  However, in view of the
increased emphasis on economic growth and job creation for the peninsula, the County
Council has brought forward consideration of a Stubbington bypass as a viable project to
support economic investment and growth on the Gosport peninsula.

A study is underway to provide an assessment of each route option, to provide updated
information on the design standards, traffic impacts and environmental impacts.  The results
of this study, together with the outcome of the current public consultation, will help inform a
decision on the preferred route choice.  The scheme will need to attract funding from
Government sources for infrastructure investment that supports economic regeneration and
job creation.

I would be grateful if you could note the County Counci's position with regard to Stubbington
bypass and the County Council's intention to engage with the applicant to explore the
compatibility of the proposed scheme with the possible route options for the Stubbington
bypass.

Natural England - 

Page 22



The application site is approximately 1.5km from Lee-on-the-Solent to Itchen Estuary Site of
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), and 1km from Portsmouth Harbour SSSI. These SSSI are
part of the Solent and Southampton Water, and Portsmouth Harbour Special Protection
Areas (SPA) and Ramsar sites.

Natural England advises your authority that the proposal, if undertaken in strict accordance
with the details submitted, is not likely to have a significant effect on the interest features for
which Portsmouth Harbour SPA/Ramsar and Solent and Southampton Water SPA/Ramsar
are designated, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects, subject to
conditions and advice to avoid the clearance of trees and areas of scrub during the bird
breeding season, March to August  inclusive, unless supervised by an appropriately
qualified ecologist, to reduce the likelihood of harm to breeding birds.

SSSI - Natural England is satisfied that, subject to the imposition of conditions and the
development being undertaken in strict accordance with the submitted proposals  these
development proposals will avoid impacts upon the interest features of Portsmouth Harbour
SSSI and Lee-on-the-Solent to Itchen Estuary SSSI.

Natural England advises the proposals as presented have the potential to affect species
protected under European or UK legislation. Natural England refers you to our Standing
Advice on protected species

Director of Planning and Environment (Ecology) - 

The application is supported by a Phase 1 Habitats Survey (Extended) (Wildlife Matters,
June 2013) and an Environmental Site Management Plan (Vogt Solar, undated). It is
recommended  that a few points are clarified with the applicants ecologist prior to
determination of the application. 

The application follows a previous application at the site, and provides revised and
additional survey information for a proposal area which has been reduced in size.

Natural England have been consulted on the proposal, and following their advice to the
applicant's ecologist prior to and during the resubmission process, and based on the survey
work carried out, have advised the LPA (18 July 2013) that the proposal is unlikely to have
significant effect on the interest features of the statutory designated sites.

Overall the site is of low ecological interest, it is the boundary areas including rough
grassland and trees/woodland that are of most interest. The proposal is to be for a period of
twenty five years, after which the site will be decommissioned. It is understood that all works
are to take place within the redline and that the works and site will involve no lighting.

Subject to the applicant satisfactorily addressing  a number of points, it is recommended
that in any consent conditions secure adherence to the measures set out within the
Environmental Site Management Plan (and any other details resulting from the clarification
provided).

Further information was submitted by the applicant clarifying the points raised as mentioned
above.

Lee-on-the-Solent (Daedalus) Airfield Operation Manager - 

Page 23



The landowner of the site (Homes and Community Agency) will comment on the proposal.

Homes & Community Agency (HCA) -

It is welcomed that the proposal has been significantly reduced.  However the location of
the development still is a cause of concern in the event that aviation activities are to
continue from Daedalus and the potential implications and impacts are as follows:

i) A significant reduction of the land available for forced landings particularly in terms of
smaller single engine aircraft and gliders;

ii)Reduce the likelihood of the second runway at Daedalus (currently disused) being brought
back into active use;

iii)As a result of i and ii above, potentially make the airfield less attractive to users and
investors with a consequential impact on financial viability;

iv)Adverse impact on pilots and ground based air traffic controllers as a result of glint and
glare.

Solent Local Enterprise Partnership (Solent LEP) - 

Solent LEPs bid to Government in 2011 to set up the Solent Enterprise Zone was to create
a new cluster of businesses related to   advanced manufacturing and technology, focused
on the marine, aviation and aerospace sectors.  This focus was restated to Government as
recently May this year.  Solent LEP believes that an operational airfield at Daedalus is
essential to delivering this objective given that aviation and aerospace businesses are
unlikely to be attracted to a location that does not provide any access to an operational
airfield.  For that reason, Solent LEP would not want to see any development in the vicinity
of the Daedalus airfield that compromises its current or potential future operations.

Solent LEP has been in discussion with the HCA as landowner and other partners in
delivering the Enterprise Zone (EZ), about ways of improving and commercialising the
airfield: this includes ownership and management, the number of flight movements, the type
of user and in the aircraft likely to use the Daedalus airfield.   There are plans to licence the
airfield in due course.  An increase in activity on the airfield is therefore under active
discussion and if the EZ were to attract aerospace contractors, it is possible that the nature
of the aviation use could change significantly.   As a guide, given the concentration of
defence-related aerospace businesses in the Solent area, the LEP would actively
encourage development of this type of business on the Solent Enterprise Zone.

Solent Local Enterprise Partnership has no expertise to judge whether the proposed Solar
Farm would in any way affect or compromise the use of Daedalus airfield.  The concern
would be that any planning application in the vicinity of Daedalus should not only take
account of current airfield operations but potential future flying from the airfield over the long
term.

Civil Aviation Authority - No comment

Hampshire County Council (Archaeologist) - No objection

Page 24



Planning Considerations - Key Issues

Hampshire Constabulary (Crime Prevention Design Officer) -

As the footpath passes through the solar farm it is fairly straight, to provide for the safety of
those using the footpath it is important that there is good visibility along the footpath.  Any
planting within the six metre wide avenue must not reduce visibility along the footpath or
provide a place in which a person might lie in wait.

Director of Regulatory and Democratic Services (Environmental Health) - No objection

Environment Agency - No objection subject to condition requiring compliance with submitted
Flood Risk Assessment.

Director of Regulatory and Democratic Services (Contamination) - No objection

Southern Water - No objections subject to conditions.

Members will see from the planning policies which apply to this proposal, and the comments
received from consultees and other interested parties that there are a wide range of matters
relating to these proposals.

The Officers' comments which follow assess the planning application proposals against
national guidance and the relevant policies of the approved Core Strategy, the adopted
Fareham Borough Local Plan Review and the Draft Local Plan Part 2: Development Sites
and Policies.

Where possible the development proposals have been considered under a number of
'theme' headings. These are:

 . The previous planning application
 · The principle of providing renewable energy- national and local planning policy
 · Principle of development in the countryside
 · Previously developed land
 · Strategic gap and visual impact
 · Impact on residential amenity
 · Ecology
 · Impacts upon the operation and safety of aircraft using Daedalus Airfield
 · Stubbington bypass
 · Access during construction 
 · Public access on the site
 · Any other issues
 · Conclusion

PREVIOUS PLANNING APPLICATION:

A previous application (P/12/0905/FP refers) for a ground based PV solar farm on land west
of Newgate Lane was withdrawn in February this year.  The previous application site
measured 58 hectares (143 acres) and extended west of the north-south farm track that
bisects Newlands Farm.

The previous application was recommended for refusal.  There were three matters of
concern which related to:

Page 25



i)    the site coverage and the location of the land to be occupied by the proposed solar
panels, security fencing and hedging, would significantly diminish the sense of  visual
separation of the settlements, particularly when viewed from the well used public footpaths
through and around the site.  In addition the proposal would alter the character of this area
of countryside when viewed from the footpaths to the detriment of the users of the
footpaths;

ii)   insufficient information was provided to determine that there would be no significant
effect on the integrity of the Solent European Marine Site and protected species;

iii)  the potential impact upon the Solent Enterprise Zone at Daedalus as a result of the
reduced availability of land for 'forced landing'.

The current application has been submitted in order to address the concerns of the previous
larger application.  The site area has been reduced to 27.04 hectares  (53.4% reduction)
with the PV arrays being sited between HMS Collingwood and the Peel Common
Wastewater Treatment Works, eastwards across to Newgate Lane.

THE PRINCIPLE OF PROVIDING RENEWABLE ENERGY - NATIONAL AND LOCAL
PLANNING POLICY:

Members will be aware that in determining planning applications Section 38 (6) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that:

If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

The National Planning Policy Framework now provides the national guidance base for
planning decision making.  The framework promotes a presumption in favour of sustainable
development which should be seen as a golden thread running through decision making.
By their nature, proposals for the production of renewable energy contribute towards the
aims of sustainability. 

One of the core planning principles set out in the framework is to:

"support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate, taking full account of
flood risk and coastal change, and encourage the reuse of existing resources, including
conversion of existing buildings, and encourage the use of renewable resources (for
example, by the development of renewable energy)" (paragraph 17 of the National Planning
Policy Framework).

Expanding further from this point the framework states:

"To help increase the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy, local planning
authorities should recognise the responsibility on all communities to contribute to energy
generation from renewable or low carbon sources."

Paragraph 97 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that in order to increase the
use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy, local planning authorities should
consider identifying suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy sources.

Page 26



and,

"When determining planning applications, local planning authorities should:

not require applicants for energy development to demonstrate the overall need for
renewable or low carbon energy and also recognise that even small-scale projects provide a
valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and approve the application if its
impacts are (or can be made) acceptable. Once suitable areas for renewable and low
carbon energy have been identified in plans, local planning authorities should also expect
subsequent applications for commercial scale projects outside these areas to demonstrate
that the proposed location meets the criteria used in identifying suitable areas." (paragraph
98 of the National Planning Policy Framework).

It is very clear from the National Planning Policy Framework that the Government's position
is that in principle there is strong support for renewable proposals of this type. It is also clear
that Local Planning Authorities should not focus on matters such as the need for the
renewable energy nor the efficiency of one type of energy over another, but rather, whether
or not there are any harmful impacts arising from the development which cannot be
mitigated against.

New guidance in the form of the 'Planning Practice Guidance for Renewable and Low
Carbon Energy' has been published by the Department of Communities and Local
Government in July 2013. This guidance amongst other matters provides a lead on what
matters need to be considered in relation to large ground mounted PV installations.  The
guidance sets these out as follows:

- encouraging the effective use of previously developed land, and if a proposal does involve
greenfield land, that it allows for continued agricultural use and/or encourages biodiversity
improvements around arrays;

- that solar farms are normally temporary structures and planning conditions can be used to
ensure that the installations are removed when no longer in use and the land is restored to
its previous use;

- the effect on landscape of glint and glare and on neighbouring uses and aircraft safety;

- the extent to which there may be additional impacts if solar arrays follow the daily
movement of the sun;

- the need for, and impact of, security measures such as lights and fencing;

- great care should be taken to ensure heritage assets are conserved in a manner
appropriate to their significance, including the impact of proposals on views important to
their setting. As the significance of a heritage asset derives not only from its physical
presence, but also from its setting, careful consideration should be given to the impact of
large scale solar farms on such assets. Depending on their scale, design and prominence, a
large scale solar farm within the setting of a heritage asset may cause substantial harm to
the significance of the asset;

- the potential to mitigate landscape and visual impacts through, for example, screening with
native hedges;

Page 27



- the energy generating potential, which can vary for a number of reasons including, latitude
and aspect.

The guidance further suggests that important factors in considering sites can be the
availability of grid connection and cumulative impact.

The promotion of sustainable development runs through the policies contained within this
Council's adopted Core Strategy. One specific policy of the Core Strategy, Policy CS16,
which deals with Natural Resources and Renewable Energy states:

New development will be expected to safeguard the use of natural resources by: 

- Demonstrating the latest best practice for energy efficiency, passive solar design and
water conservation in the construction and use of the buildings; 

- Taking measures to reduce carbon emissions, pollution and waste during the construction
and operation of new developments through orientation, layout, design and material
selection;

- Reducing, reusing and recycling waste on-site; 

- Preventing the loss of the best and most versatile agricultural land (Grades 1, 2 or 3a of
the Natural England Agricultural Land Classifications System); 

- Protecting mineral resources from permanent development, without first allowing for
extraction, which would lead to the sterilisation of the deposit.

Development (1 dwelling or more and 500m2 or more of non-residential floorspace) will be
encouraged to contribute to the Fareham target of 12MW of renewable energy by 2020.
Major developments (250 dwellings or more or 5,000 sq.m or more of non-residential
floorspace) should aim to maximise on-site renewable energy production and resource
efficiency. In such cases, the extent of contribution should be demonstrated, taking account
of viability. The generation of energy from renewable or low carbon sources will be
permitted unless there are judged to be unacceptable social, environmental or economic
impacts.

Based on the submitted evidence, the proposed scheme would in itself exceed the target of
12MW set within Policy CS16.

Having regard to the national planning policy position, Officers acknowledge that there is
strong Government support for developments of this type. Similar local support is also found
within this Council's approved Core Strategy. 

In principle therefore such renewable energy proposals are acceptable. The potential
impacts arising from such a proposal on this specific site are discussed in greater depth
within the following report.

The Council has  commissioned an evidence study in line with the guidance contained
within paragraph 97 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  This evidence work will
inform appropriate policies being developed as part of the Local Plan Part 2 Development
Sites and Policies.

Page 28



PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT IN THE COUNTRYSIDE:

The whole of the planning application site is within an area defined as countryside on the
adopted Proposals Map.

This particular site has been chosen by the applicant because:

 · It is flat;
 · It has a good south facing aspect;
 · It is located within the UK zone of highest sunshine;
 · It has direct link to the national grid;
 · Good access during the construction and decommissioning phase;
 · The landowner is willing.

Policy CS14 (Development Outside Settlements) of the approved Core Strategy states:

"Built development on land outside the defined settlements will be strictly controlled to 
protect the countryside and coastline from development which would adversely affect its
landscape character, appearance and function. Acceptable forms of development will
include that essential for agriculture, forestry, horticulture and required infrastructure..."

Members will see from the six bullet points above that a number of criteria need to be met
from the applicant's perspective for a site to be suitable. Whilst solar panels in themselves
do not specifically require a countryside location, locating a site of sufficient scale within the
urban area, whilst meeting all the other requirements will prove extremely difficult if not
unlikely. Members will also be aware that even if such a site did exist within the urban area
there would be strong competing interests for other forms of development such as
residential and/ or employment development.

In light of the locational requirements of this renewable energy proposal, which also
contributes towards the provision of infrastructure, Officers do not believe an objection can
be substantiated to the principle of such a development in the countryside.

PREVIOUSLY DEVELOPED LAND:

In the event of planning permission being granted, concerns have previously been raised as
to whether it would make it difficult for this Authority to resist other types of development on
the application site. 

The question has also been raised over whether the proposal, if granted, would lead to the
site being classified as 'previously developed land'.

The applicant is seeking planning permission to use the site for a solar farm for a period of
25 years. If planning permission is granted then a condition could be imposed requiring the
use to cease after 25 years and the land to be reinstated to agricultural use.

Whilst such a condition would on the face of it meet the six tests set out within the 'Use of
Conditions in Planning' Circular (Circular 11/95), it would of course be open to the applicant
to seek permission to extend the period in the future. The solar farm does have a degree of
permanence over a lengthy period of time and the site would arguably be defined as
previously developed land.

Page 29



Even if the site was considered to be previously developed land however, this would not
override the countryside or strategic gap planning policy allocation which would continue to
apply. Any alternative development at the site would need to be fully assessed against the
countryside and strategic gap policies along with other relevant national and local planning
policies.

In light of this Officers do not believe that granting planning permission for the solar farm
would undermine this Authority's planning position if other forms of development were
proposed on this site. Likewise granting planning permission here would not set a precedent
which would allow solar proposals within other countryside/ strategic gap locations within
the Borough. Any other schemes would need to be assessed on their individual merits
having regard to any constraints on the sites on which they are proposed.

Officers do not believe an objection to the proposal could be sustained on the basis that it
would be difficult in the future to prevent alternative development at the site.

STRATEGIC GAP AND VISUAL IMPACT:

Core Strategy Policy CS22 Development in Strategic Gaps states that:

"Development proposals will not be permitted either individually or cumulatively where it
significantly affects the integrity of the gap and physical and visual separation of
settlements."

Policy CS14 referred to in the 'principle of development in the countryside' section of this
report states built development outside defined settlements will be strictly controlled to
protect the landscape character, appearance and function of the countryside.

Policy DG4 of the Fareham Borough Local Plan Review states that development will be
permitted, provided that it respects views into and out of the site.

Out of the total network of public rights of way on the land between Stubbington and
Fareham, one 320 metre stretch (with panels on both sides) would have to pass directly
through the solar farm. Footpath 68 runs along Tanners Lane along the southern perimeter
of HMS Collingwood, a route already compromised by the presence of HMS Collingwood on
its northern side.  At the point where Tanners Lane turns to the north, wide, uninterrupted
views would be possible towards Stubbington and north to Fareham.

When viewed from the existing footpath network, the open nature of the land  emphasises
the visual separation of the settlements.  In light of the site coverage of the previous
application, the sense of  visual separation of the settlements would have been significantly
diminished. The revised application proposes the siting of  arrays between the Wastewater
Treatment Works and HMS Collingwood, leaving an extensive visual gap open between
Stubbington, Peel Common and Fareham.

It is possible to gain views into the site from parts of Newgate Lane, Stroud Green Lane,
Burnt House Lane and from the statutory footpaths in and around the site. Again, however,
the reduced area of the site has resulted in the views from Stroud Green Lane and Burnt
House Lane  now being at a considerable distance which will be considered in detail below.

The visual impact of the proposed development is an important consideration.  Officers
have assessed visual impact with reference to long and medium views and then views from

Page 30



within and immediately around the site.

Long Distance Views:

Long distance views are regarded by officers as those beyond the immediate roads and
public footpaths surrounding the site.  The site and the surrounding land is very flat and the
arrays would be low.  Views from Longfield Avenue to the north and the residential
properties with views over the fields are, with the reduced development proposal, no longer
affected since the views will remain open past the Wastewater Treatment Works and on to
the south.  Officers are of the opinion that there are only very limited long distance and
oblique views of the site.

Medium Distance Views:

Medium distance views are regarded by officers as those from the surrounding roads.

Newgate Lane - The eastern side of the site would be visible to motorists and pedestrians
travelling along Newgate Lane.  The panels would be sited some 50 - 70 metres back from
the road edge, behind a security fence and hedgerow.  There is some existing screening
along the western side of Newgate Lane, with some gaps.  Through these gaps currently
there are clear views across the open farmland. 

Officers are of the opinion that the views to the west from Newgate Lane would endure
some change.  A limited number of properties look out in this direction including the Tudor
Lodge Care Home.  The application identifies an open buffer area between the eastern
edge of the proposed arrays and the boundaries of the adjoining properties of between 22m
and 80m to the far south of the site.

Stroud Green Lane - The views from Stroud Green Lane towards the western side of the
site would endure some minor change, although the panels would now be some 650m -
700m distant as opposed to the previous separation of 180m.

Burnt House Lane - The northern 'arm' of Burnt House Lane would now be sited some
630m from the proposal solar panels in comparison to the previous 400 metres .

Views from within and immediately around the site:

There are a number of public footpaths in the vicinity of the site, in particular Footpaths 68,
70, 71a, 71b and 74 (which crosses the site); it is clear that a number of these footpaths are
well used.

The applicants have submitted a full 'Landscape and Visual Impact' report.  The report
affirms that the major visual impacts would be upon the close distance views particularly
those experienced by users of the public footpaths, with the impact potentially being
lessened by proposed hedgerow planting.

The development proposals incorporate screen planting along the peripheries of the solar
arrays and along public footpath 74 although no planting is identified along the eastern
boundary to the properties on Newgate Lane where existing mature boundary vegetation
exists and there is no public access.

New native hedgerows would be generally permitted to grow to about 2 metres high in order

Page 31



to soften the visual impact of both the solar panels and the security fencing around them.
The hedges would be of mixed indigenous species and would take approximately 5/6 years
to establish and fulfil their 'screening function'. During this period of time the panels and
security fencing will be seen from the footpaths creating a much less attractive environment
than that currently existing.

These new hedge lines would screen the views across the site from the immediately
affected footpaths.  Objectors have pointed out that the open views across the site are an
important part of the enjoyment of the footpaths and that enclosure, whilst screening the
solar panel development, would diminish their enjoyment and create an environment where
personal security would be an issue.

Landscape character and appearance, including views in and out of the site, are important
issues in considering the overall impact of this scheme and, ultimately are important matters
to be assessed against Policies CS14 and CS22 of the Core Strategy and Policy DG4 of the
Fareham Borough Local Plan Review.  Harm to the physical and visual separation of the
settlements can be a reason in itself to reject a development proposal within the Strategic
Gap having regard for Policy CS22.

In assessing the impact of the proposal Officers have walked each of the definitive footpath
routes.

Taking footpath 68 first, this footpath runs along the route of Tanners Lane.To the north of
this footpath there is already development associated with Newgate Lane frontage
properties and the substantial buildings at HMS Collingwood.

At the north-eastern edge of the application site the PV panels and screen fencing is set
some distance away from the footpath. Whilst this would alter the views from the footpath at
this point it would not give the feeling of enclosure.

From the pylon located just south of Mermaid Road to the western edge of the application
site, a distance of approximately 350 metres, the PV panels would be located close to
footpath 68. This change would alter the character of this length of footpath and would lead
to a feeling of the footpath being enclosed.

Footpath number 74 runs diagonally through the site of the panels from the Newgate Lane/
Tanners Lane junction to the north eastern corner of the Waste Water Treatment Works.
The stretch of footpath with panels on either side would measure approximately 320 metres.

The application proposes that a total width of 6 metres would be provided between the
screen fencing within which the footpath would run. Users of this section of footpath would
experience a considerable change in the character of the path in terms of the reduction in
available views and the sense of the footpath being enclosed.

At the point where footpath 74 meets the Waste Water Treatment Works it runs along its
northern edge, elevated on a well treed bank. Views from this section of the footpath are
screened to an extent and being elevated views would be retained over the top of the PV
panels.

The final footpath is number 71b which leaves Newgate Lane close to its junction with the
entrance to the Waste Water Treatment Works. At the point where it meets the eastern
boundary of the Treatment Works it runs along an elevated well treed bank.

Page 32



Whilst immediate views from this footpath will be altered the routeing of the footpath in an
elevated, treed location for much of its route means that it will not experience loss of views
nor enclosure.

In summary Officers have carefully assessed the impact upon public footpaths and the
users of those routes. The application site now proposed is substantially smaller than that
previously proposed. In turn the number of footpath routes affected is now reduced. The
perception of the visual gap between Fareham, Stubbington and Peel Common is retained
as a large swathe of fields is now retained in an undeveloped form with footpaths running
through them.

The application site now occupies a more discrete area of land situated between HMS
Collingwood and the Waste Water Treatment Works. A change in the character of this area
of land would occur and the perception of the area when viewed from public footpaths
would alter, more substantially in some cases than others.

The harm upon the character of the countryside along with the changes to the views from
these public footpaths will need to be balanced against the benefits delivered by the
proposals.

IMPACT ON RESIDENTIAL AMENITY:

To the east there are several residential properties together with the Tudor Lodge Care
Home.  These are generally set behind a boundary of mature planting including substantial
trees.  Along the boundary with these properties the proposed solar arrays would be set in
from the boundary by around 22 metres at the northernend of the boundary adjacent to 239
Newgate Lane to 33 metres at 211 Newgate Lane and increasing significantly further to the
south.  The main outlook from these properties is not in the direction of the solar arrays
although there are some habitable windows that do outlook in that direction.

To the west properties in Stroud Green Lane would be sited some 650 - 700  metres from
the solar panels, facing east towards the site. Whilst their view will be altered, in light of the
distance from these dwellings it is not considered the harm to those residents is such as to
justify the refusal of the application. 

The properties along the northern part of Burnt House Lane are oriented to the north-south
and would not be affected directly in terms of outlook.

Having assessed the impact upon the nearby residential properties, Officers conclude that
the proposal would not cause material harm which would justify the refusal of the
application.

ECOLOGY:

The issues arising can be broadly itemised as:

(i) the enhancements to the ecological value of the site set out in the planning proposals,
and
(ii) the suitability of the site to be used by Waders and Brent geese for the protection of
which the Solent Special Protection Area (SPA) was established.

Page 33



Enhancement:

The enhancement measures proposed include native planting in created hedgerows,
creation of species-rich grassland, and provision of features such as habitat piles and
bird/bat boxes.  These are general enhancements that would increase the general
biodiversity of the site.

Waders and Brent Geese:

The previously withdrawn application extended to the west of the current site.  Natural
England and the Council's Ecology Officer advised that Waders and Brent geese are not
confined to the European Union (EU) sites and readily use a range of areas outside the
designated site boundaries.  The area to the west of the current site had potential to support
overwintering birds as a high tide roost and grazing site. Insufficient information had been
submitted at that time to fully assess whether there would be any significant effect on birds. 

The applicant sought the advice of Natural England and as a result undertook survey work
on site during the winter period at the beginning of this year. Low usage of the wider site by
wading birds was recorded.  In light of this conclusion, together with the fact that
development is no longer proposed on the land to the west of the current site, Natural
England have advised that the proposal is unlikely to have significant effect on the interest
features of the statutory designated sites (in this case Waders and Brent geese).

In conclusion it is considered that the development as now proposed would not have any
significant ecological impacts and would result in an an overall improvement in biodiversity.

IMPACTS UPON THE OPERATION AND SAFETY OF AIRCRAFT USING DAEDALUS
AIRFIELD:

The issues arising can be broadly itemised as:

- Harm from 'Glint and Glare' 
- Reduced availability of land for 'Forced landing'
- Potential impact of the proposed development on the Solent Enterprise Zone

These were issues of significant concern raised during the consideration of the withdrawn
application.  As a result the Council engaged aviation consultants to consider the issues,
and have consulted with them again following the receipt of the latest proposals.

Glint and Glare:

The applicant has stated that solar panels are designed to absorb rather than to reflect light.
 In the case of the site the solar panels are designed to reflect only 2% of incoming sunlight.
 Reflected light from the solar panels will be significantly less than glare from direct sunlight.

They further assert that no evidence could be found from existing solar energy projects
around the world of any reported problems of glare from solar panels affecting pilots and
therefore concluded that there is no evidence that the Fareham Solar Farm would cause
glare that might pose a safety risk to pilots of aircraft operating in the vicinity.

The Council's aviation consultant confirmed that in relation to glint and glare there would
appear to be little evidence to suggest that the development would have any significant

Page 34



impact on the operations at Daedalus. No recorded incidents of pilots suffering any adverse
impact due to solar developments near airfields could be found.  Additionally research
would suggest that, under current guidance and thinking, there should be minimal, if any,
impact on the controllers within the Tower. 

Forced Landings:

The Council's aviation consultant previously concluded that it would appear that the
proposed solar farm would significantly reduce the forced landing options for all climb-out
profiles on both runway 05 and 35 and, in some cases, potentially deny a realistic forced
landing opportunity completely. Whilst this should not affect the licensing of runway 35 it
might affect the types of aircraft that operate from the airfield in future.

In considering the revised application the Council's aviation consultant  considered the
previous reports and responses from both the developer and other interested parties.  The
report assessed the revised Solar Farm layout against four criteria:

- Take-off and departure from runway 35;
- Take-off and green lane* departure from runway 05;
- Take-off and traditional climb-straight ahead departure from runway 05;
- Green Lane recovery to land on runways 05 and 35.

(*a route above largely undeveloped land).

The report concluded:

- 'Aircraft taking-off and departing from runway 35 would not be affected by the solar farm;

- Take off and departing from runway 05, and following the green lane route would not be
affected by the solar farm;

- Aircraft taking-off and departing from runway 05 and following the climb-ahead route,
would have their forced landing options slightly reduced by the solar farm;

- Aircraft recovering to the airfield from the north, would be able to follow the green lane
route without having their land-short options compromised by the solar farm.

To conclude, the latest proposal effectively addresses the concerns the Lee-on-Solent
airfield operators published in relation to the earlier proposal (P/12/0605/FP refers).'

Potential impact of the proposed development on the Solent Enterprise Zone

The applicant has considered the potential economic impact of any effects of the solar park
on the airfield, for example as a result of aircraft operators judging that the restrictions on
forced landing options were unacceptable which would prevent them operating from
Daedalus.

Restricted forced landing options only affect single-engine aircraft since multi-engine aircraft
are designed to continue flying in the event of an engine failure.  Commercial operations by
multi-engine aircraft would not be affected by any restricted forced landing options that may
occur as a result of the solar park development.  It is clear that the potential effects of the

Page 35



revised solar farm proposal on the forced landing options for aircraft operating at the airfield
are significantly less than those that may have applied if the previous application had been
successful.  It is regarded as highly unlikely that any commercial operator, irrespective of
aircraft type, would regard the minimal reduction in forced landing field options on take-off
from runway 05 as constraining operations so much that it deterred them from bringing
aircraft or services to Daedalus.

The Council's aviation consultants have advised that there is no evidence to support the
implication that the development of the solar farm would call into question the licensing of
runway 17/35. There are no physical safeguarding implications from the development and
the vertical extent of the panels will be significantly less than existing development on the
approach to runway 35 and climb-out from runway 17. If the Civil Aviation Authority  have
surveyed the available surface with a view to licensing it they will have taken onto account
the undershoot and overshoot. As a consequence, despite concerns voiced by the Homes
and Community Agency, there is no evidence to demonstrate that the  development
proposals would impact upon existing or potential users of the Enterprise Zone.

STUBBINGTON BYPASS:

At the time of the withdrawn planning application the Council was advised that there were
no plans relating to the potential for a Stubbington bypass that were likely to take place
within the 25 year life of the proposed development and that the land was not subject to any
Highway safeguarding.

Since the previous proposal was withdrawn,  further public consultation has been
undertaken by Hampshire County Council which has included possible options for a
Stubbington bypass due to 'increased emphasis on economic growth and job creation for
the (Gosport) peninsula'.

The initial public consultation on the matter ended on the 9th September; the consultation
invited early views from residents and businesses on possible routes for the Stubbington
bypass and related improvements. The consultation contained three potential routes for the
Stubbington bypass.  Two of these routes (Red and Green) are not affected by the
application proposal, whilst the third (blue) runs through the site.  The applicant is currently
discussing the compatability of the blue route with the solar farm proposal with Hampshire
County Council.  An update will be provided on these discussions at the meeting.

Officers have sought legal advice in relation to the weight that should be given to the
potential impact of the proposed solar farm upon one possible route of the Stubbington
Bypass.

The potential need for the land to be used for the bypass is capable of being a material
planning consideration in terms of the definition of what is a material planning consideration
as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

Paragraph 41 of the NPPF states 'Local planning authorities should identify and protect,
where there is robust evidence, sites and routes which could be critical in developing
infrastructure to widen transport choice.' Once a decision on the route is made then
paragraph 41 of the National Planning Policy Framework suggests that it should be
safeguarded.

One of the key questions raised at this stage is whether or not it would be premature to

Page 36



permit the development of the site as a solar farm before the route of the Stubbington
bypass has been fully determined.

At the time of preparing this report, possible routes for the bypass were the subject of a
recently concluded consultation. The County Council as the highway authority, has not
submitted comments in respect of this application which indicate that one of the three
routes proposed is more preferable than the others. The County Council have furthermore
not asked that the planning application should be refused. The funding for the bypass is not
currently in place and there is no timetable for its delivery.

Following the conclusion of the initial consultation, the County Council will publish a
summary of the responses received in late October. Comments of the interim Peel
Common Roundabout proposals will be considered and consultation will be undertaken on
more detailed proposals in early 2014.Comments on the Western Access to Gosport will be
considered by the County Council alongside the necessary environmental and technical
assessment of the proposals including all the potential corridors of interest for a potential
Stubbington bypass. Any decision on a preferred corridor will be the subject of future
consultation.

On the basis of the currently available information, Officers are of the opinion that the
planning application cannot be reasonably refused on the basis of potentially prejudicing a
highway scheme which is not formally safeguarded and is in the early stages of
consideration.

ACCESS DURING CONSTRUCTION:

This issue was a matter of much negotiation between officers and the applicants during the
consideration of the withdrawn application.  Whilst the location of the proposed construction
compound has changed the principle of how the site will be accessed and constructed
remains essentially unaltered.

The construction compound will be located at the north east part of the site adjacent to
Tanners Lane and the aim is to establish a one way westbound route from Newgate Lane to
Peak Lane during the 12 week construction period. As set out in the comments from the
Highways Officer it is anticipated that between 12 and 75 large haulage and delivery
vehicles plus ancillary vehicles per week over a 12 week construction phase would access
the site.  This would equate to around 503 lorries in total and a peak average of some 1.8
lorries per hour.  Specialist operatives from Germany will be used to install the array panels
and equipment.  They will be accommodated locally and bussed to the site daily.  As such
there is unlikely to be any material additional traffic movements beyond the above large
construction vehicles, carrying off surplus materials and bringing in the bulk equipment, also
from Germany.

Officers are satisfied that subject works being carried out in accordance with the submitted
Construction Traffic Management Plan there should be no unacceptably harmful impacts
arising from the construction of the proposed development.

PUBLIC ACCESS ON THE SITE:

The current application proposes no new paths.  The route of public footpath 74 through the
site is to be widened to 6 metres with hedgerow planting in front of security fencing on either
side.

Page 37



No objections have been received from Hampshire County Counci'sl Rights of Way Officer
or the Hampshire Constabulary's (Crime prevention Design Officer) has raised no objection
in principle.

OTHER ISSUES:

Grade 2 Agricultural land - 

The land is classified as Grade 2 agricultural land but as a result of the ability to use the
land in and around the arrays for grazing a form of 'dual use' is established that would not
sterilise the land nor would there be any long term contamination of the land by the
development.  The land would be fully reverted back to its agricultural use at the end of the
25 year temporary period should permission be granted.  Natural England is responsible for
agricultural land classification and has raised no objection on the grounds of loss of
agricultural land. Indeed the cessation of monoculture is likely to have a positive impact on
the land as well as encouraging biodiversity which is explored further in this report.

Electromagnetic Fields - 

The development involves the deployment of up to date technology in the production of
electricity.  Some public concern has arisen over potential health risks associated with
electromagnetic fields (EMF) generated by the process of the production of the electricity.

The applicants have provided evidence, which concludes that:

 · EMF are produced in the operation of all electronic equipment and appliances in homes
and businesses (computers, televisions etc)
 · EMF are produced during the production and distribution of electricity
 · Solar arrays create direct current which produces a static magnetic field. 
 · Direct current must be converted to alternating current to be used and this creates power
frequency magnetic fields
 · The strength of EMF diminishes over distance.  In a US example the static magnetic field
generated by a solar array, at approximately 1 metre would be only 0.05% of the
International Commission on Non-Ionising Radiation Protection (ICNIRP) exposure
guidelines
 · In the same US example the EMF generated by power inverters would be less than 50%
of the ICNIRP guideline at 1 metre and at 3 metres (10') and would be no more than
comparable  common household appliances

The UK Government policy on EMFs is to comply with the ICNIRP 1998 Guideline, in line
with EU recommendations.

All of the solar arrays would be set at least 4 metres (13') from any publicly accessible area
such as a footpath so that on this basis there is no evidence to suggest that there would be
any health consequences arising from the solar panels themselves.

The proposed inverter and transformer buildings are generally located well within the solar
array groups and where they are not then they would be set at least 5 metres (16'4") from
publicly accessible land so that again there is no evidence that there would be any
demonstrable health consequences.

Fire Hazard - 

Page 38



Conclusion

Some objectors have raised concern over potential problems which could arise should the
solar arrays catch fire.  They point to the concerns raised by fire fighting agencies
(particularly in the US) in fighting fires on domestic properties with solar panels.
This is not considered to be relevant to the application development since it is understood
that the issue has arisen over the fact that, as electricity generating equipment, normal
domestic fire fighting techniques cannot be used.  However the application development is
standalone solar generation equipment so that the conflict would not arise.  Furthermore it
is understood that the materials used in the production of the solar arrays has an
exceptionally high combustion point so that fire risk is minimal.

Some objectors raise concern over the toxicity of materials used in the production of the
solar panels.  It is not the place for the planning system to make judgement upon such
matters which can only be a matter for National control.

The applicants point out that, "Thousands of people live with solar panels on the roofs of
their homes, sleeping and living a mere few metres away from the panels for long periods of
time with no ill effects"

To conclude there is no evidence available to the Council to suggest that the proposed
installations are a significant risk to public health or safety.

Noise -

Representations raise concerns over the potential for noise disturbance arising from the
proposed inverter and transformer structures. 

The applicants previously confirmed:

"One of the major benefits of solar PV is that once installed it does not create any noise, as
there are no moving parts associated with the panels. The only noise generating equipment
on site is the transformer/inverter stations and the substations. The noise generated by the
transformer/inverter stations is limited to:

At 1 metre: Inverter ca. 72dB; Transformer ca. 50dB"

These levels may be represented as approximating to the sound of a normal conversation
at a metre distance.  Many Members experienced this noise at first hand from visiting the
operational site at Oving during the last application process and will recall that it involves a
low level 'hum' which diminishes to an inaudible level within a short distance.

In view of the significant distance of any of the inverters and transformers from any
residential properties and from the public footpaths it is not considered that there would be
any adverse impact upon either residents or users of the footpaths by noise.

The preceding report sets out the national and local planning policy position in respect of
this renewable energy proposal in the countryside and sets out the relevant material issues
to be considered.

In the first part Officers fully acknowledge the strong national and local planning policy
support for the principle of renewable energy proposals. In terms of the latest guidance the
site is well located with regard to grid connection and does not have any cumulative impact

Page 39



with other sites.  Further, due consideration has been given to factors highlighted in the
guidance and the proposed development generally follows the guidance closely.  The
guidance also stresses the importance of local community involvement.  The applicant
undertook a public exhibition prior to submission of the application, the details of which are
included within a Statement of Community Involvement.

In terms of the impact upon local residents, Officers acknowledge that there will be changes
in the appearance of the site when viewed from nearby residential properties, particularly in
Newgate Lane. There is a significant increase in distances between a number of residential
properties to the west and the arrays.  In light of the distances  involved in many cases
and/or the presence of intervening planting, Officers do not consider the development would
materially harm the outlook from nearby properties. 

Many representations raise objection to the fact that if the solar farm were constructed it
would occupy  the land needed to provide the 'Stubbington bypass'. Officers acknowledge
that Hampshire County Council is reassessing its position regarding the bypass and has
recently undertaken a public consultation on the matter.  However, it remains that there is
no preferred or safeguarded  route for a bypass at this point in time which would justify the
refusal of planning permission.

Whilst the proposal would result in the loss of Grade 2 agricultural land, this is reversible
and the solar farm in itself would not reduce the quality of the land. Grazing of animals
would occur concurrently with the gathering of solar energy resulting in a form of dual use.
Natural England raises no objection to the site's removal from full agricultural use over a 25
year period.

Health and noise issues have also been considered, and Officers are satisfied on the basis
of the information available, both from the applicants and independently, that no harm
would be caused to health nor nuisance caused by noise through the proposed use of the
site.

The construction phase of the proposal would require a large number of lorry movements
from Newgate Lane to the site and then out through Peak Lane. The Council's highway
engineer is satisfied that construction works can be undertaken in such a way that no
material harm would be caused to highway safety.

It is acknowledged that the planting of a significant amount of native hedging along with the
creation of extensive grassland containing wildflower mix will provide  ecological
enhancements over the existing farmed land.

Concerns regarding overwintering birds have been addressed by both survey work and by
the fact that the site area is significantly reduced. The applicants have confirmed that no
evidence has been found of reptiles on the site.  Natural England no longer raises objection
to the proposals and has confirmed that the development is unlikely to have any significant
effect upon the Solent Special Protection Area .

The issue of the impact upon aviation at Daedalus,  was of great concern in respect of the
previously submitted larger site. The matter of glint and glare has not changed and was not
and is not considered to be a supportable objection to the development.  The concern over
forced landings has been  resolved by the substantial reduction in site coverage by solar
panels which leaves land available for forced landings within the area to the west of the
current site.  These matters have been confirmed through independent expert advice

Page 40



PERMISSION

Notes for Information

Background Papers

sought by the Council and updated in the light of the new application. There is no evidence
that the development would now have any adverse impact upon the future viability of the
Enterprise Zone.

The visual impact upon the countryside at this point, along with the change in the character
of the land and the views from existing public rights of way will undoubtedly be subject to a
degree of change. It is also recognised that the new hedgerow planting around the panels
and screen fences will take many years to establish which will also lead to increased visual
intrusion in the early years following the construction of the solar farm. 

Officers have carefully weighed up the national benefits of providing renewable energy
sources, against the harm identified within this report relating to the countryside and the
public footpaths. Having considered and balanced all relevant planning issues, Officers
believe that the national benefits of contributing towards renewable energy outweighs the
areas of harm identified and planning permission should be granted subject to appropriate
conditions.

Panels and associated fencing infrastructure etc removed and site reinstated to agriculture
after 25 years; compliance with Construction Traffic Management Plan; works to Tanners
Lane and Stroud Green Lane for construction traffic to be agreed; provision of Construction
compound during construction works; reinstatement of construction compound to former
state after completion of construction; No obstruction of rights of way during construction;
contamination watching brief; development in accordance with Site Environmental
Management Plan and Phase I habitat survey; fencing in accordance with approved plans;
details of soft landscaping; implementation of agreed landscaping;tree protection; details
and provision of interpretation board;development in accordance with Flood Risk
Assessment;  conditions suggested by Southern Water Services.

Clearance of trees and areas of scrub should avoid the bird breeding season, March to
August inclusive, unless supervised by an appropriately qualified ecologist, to reduce the
likelihood of harm to breeding birds.

P/12/0905/FP

Page 41



Page 42


	Agenda
	5 Planning Applications
	ZONE 1 - WESTERN WARDS
	5(1) P/13/0575/FP - Locks Heath Free Church 255 Hunts Pond Road Titchfield Common
	ZONE 3 - EASTERN WARDS
	5(2) P/13/0528/FP - Solar Farm South of Tanners Lane/West of Newgate Lane Fareham

